# POS-X Stock Manager User's Guide

Stock N	lanage	Ì						
e Barcoc	les Rep	oorts Synchronize	Help					
STO	СК	IANAGEI	print barcodes		reports	synchr	onize	POS
Inve	ntory	Add	Subtract Replace	C	ompar	e 🚺 New Iter	m H	istory
Fin	d Iten				Sea	rch By		
	anon				000	ion by		
			Find Clear		⊙ II	em Number 🔘	Vendor (	Description
Inve	ntory ite	ms						
		Item Number	Description	Qty	Barcodes	Location	Standard Price	Ven
	edit	1	TestItem 1	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10	Testitem 10	5	print	Socation Test	\$2.32	2endor T
	edit	100	Testitem 100	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	1000	TestItem 1000	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10000	TestItem 10000	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10001	TestItem 10001	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10004	Testitem 10004	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10005	TestItem 10005	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10007	Testitem 10007	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10008	TestItem 10008	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T
	edit	10009	Testitem 10009	4	print	Location Test	\$2.32	Vendor T 🧹
<	l I		17 10 2002					
			ويرعم ووروه ووالمحم ومحمد والم			يري و و از و و و و		التركية وتحتج التركية والم

Version 1.3

Copyright 2005 POS-X Inc. All rights reserved.

# **POS-X Stock Manager User's Guide**

Stock Manager Version 1.1.67 POS-X Inc.

Telephone: 1-800-790-8657 Fax: 1-360-738-3495

http://www.pos-x.com support@pos-x.com

This document and the software described by this document are sold and distributed by POS-X Inc. All rights reserved. Use of the software described herein may only be done in accordance with the License Agreement provided with the software. Information in this document is subject to change without notice.

Windows is the registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

POS-X INC. WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR (A) ANY BUG, ERROR, OMISSION, DEFECT, DEFICIENCY, OR NONCONFORMITY IN STOCK MANAGER OR THIS DOCUMENTATION; (B) IMPLIED MERCHANTIBILITY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE; (C) IMPLIED WARRANTY RELATING TO COURSE OF DEALING, OR USAGE OF TRADE OR ANY OTHER IMPLIED WARRANTY WHATSOEVER; (D) CLAIM OF INFRINGEMENT; (E) CLAIM IN TORT, WHETHER OR NOT ARISING IN WHOLE OR PART FROM POS-X INC.'S FAULT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY, OR PRODUCT LIABILITY, OR (F) CLAIM FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, OR LOSS OF DATA, REVENUE, LICENSEES GOODWILL, OR USE. IN NO CASE SHALL POS-X INC. LIABILITY EXCEED THE PRICE THAT LICENSEE PAID FOR STOCK MANAGER.

# **POS-X Stock Manager User's Guide**

### **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction	5
1.1	What is Stock Manager?	5
1.2	Stock Manager Features and Benefits	6
1.3	Installation	7
1.3.1	Registration and Activation	8
1.4	Hardware Setup	9
1.4.1	Keyboard Wedge Barcode Scanner Setup	9
1.4.2	POS-X Xt-50 mobile barcode scanner setup	9
1.4.3	Symbol Barcode Scanner Setup	10
1.4.4	Barcode Printer Setup	10
1.5	Getting Started	11
1.6	Settings and Preferences	11
1.6.1	General Options Tab	12
1.6.2	Scanner Settings Tab	13
1.6.3	Barcode Settings Tab	13
•	Warking with Inventory	4 -
2	Working with Inventory	15
2.1	Main Inventory Screen	10
2.1.1	Editing items - General Tab	17
2.1.2	Editing Items - Prices Tab	18
2.1.3	Editing Items – Barcode Labels Tab	19
2.1.4	Editing items – Limits Tab	20
2.2	Add Screen	21
2.3	Subtract Screen	22
2.4	Replace Screen	23
2.5	Compare Screen	24
2.0	New Item Screen	25
2.0.1	Adding New Items – General Tab	20
2.0.2	Adding New Items – Prices Tab	21
2.0.3	Adding New Items – Darcoue Labers Tab	20
2.0.4	Adding New Items – Limits Tab	29
2.1	History Screen	30
3	Barcode Labels	31
3.1	Printing All Item Labels	31
3.2	Individual Item Barcode Printing	32
Л	Inventory Reporting	22
- 4 1	Full Inventory Reporting	34
		0-r

4.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	Low Inventory Reporting Physical Inventory Reporting Items Scanned Compared to Stock Manager Levels Items Scanned but Not in Stock Manager Items in Stock Manager but Not Scanned	34 35 36 36 37			
5	Backing up Data	38			
6	Exporting Data	39			
<b>7</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8 7.9 7.10 7.11	Using the POS-X Xt50 Barcode Scanner Scanner Functions	<b>40</b> 42 43 45 46 47 48 49 50 50 51			
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 8.10 8.11 8.12 8.13	Using the Symbol Palm Barcode Scanner Sending Inventory Data to the Scanner Scanner Functions	<b>52</b> 55 57 59 60 61 63 66 67 68 69			
Append	Appendix and Supplemental Information70				

## 1 Introduction

This user's guide is designed as a learning tool and technical reference for use with the POS-X Stock Manager software. If at any time you require technical support or specific label designs please contact our help desk at 1-800-790-8657.

### 1.1 What is Stock Manager?

Stock Manager is a standard Windows desktop application for tracking inventory items using barcode labels and a barcode scanner.



Figure a. Stock Manager Main Screen

Stock Manager is a simple but powerful inventory management tool specifically designed for use with both keyboard wedge barcode scanners as well as mobile devices like the POS-X Xt-50, the Symbol SPT 1550, the Symbol SPT 1800 and the Symbol SPT 1846.

### 1.2 Stock Manager Features and Benefits

Stock Manager's robust features provide the following benefits:

- Improved Inventory Turns
- Improved Cash Flow
- Increased Security
- Reduced Cost of Physical Inventory Process

Features include:

- Barcode Printing
- Barcode Scanning
- Physical Inventory Comparison Reporting
- Low Inventory Reporting
- Inventory Valuation
- Data Export (CSV comma separated value) File
- Data Backup
- Mobile Device Integration

The mobile device programs offer the same functionality on a small and portable platform:

- Price Lookup
- Location Lookup
- Receive Items
- Enter New Items
- Edit Item Information
- Physical Inventory Scanning With Multiple Devices
- Item Calculator (Cost and Price)

### 1.3 Installation

Installing Stock Manager is straightforward. Simply double click the SetupStockManager.exe icon and follow the installation steps. The application is installed to the c:\Program Files\POS-X\Stock Manager folder by default.

After installation, the Stock Manager application should be registered to unlock the demo mode. Demo mode is limited to 10 inventory items.

The Stock Manager installer will create a shortcut to the program on the desktop and in the Windows Start Menu.



Figure a. Stock Manager Welcome Screen

### 1.3.1 Registration and Activation

To register and activate the full version of Stock Manager:

- 1. Copy down the Registration Number found in the Product Registration screen.
- 2. Purchase a software license from a POS-X reseller.
- 3. The POS-X reseller will issue an activation code based on the registration number.

Product Registration	
POS STOCK MANAGER	Registration Number: 70C7EC26
Activation Code:	Register
	Cancel

Figure a. Product Registration Screen

### 1.4 Hardware Setup

Stock Manager works with a variety of different hardware combinations. Most commonly, Stock Manager is loaded on a computer with a tethered keyboard wedge scanner and barcode printer attached.

Often, a mobile barcode scanner is used to perform physical inventory and to lookup pricing when the user is away from the main computer.

#### 1.4.1 Keyboard Wedge Barcode Scanner Setup

1. Plug the scanner into the computer per the connection type.

#### 1.4.2 POS-X Xt-50 mobile barcode scanner setup

- 1. Plug the Power Supply into a wall outlet.
- 2. Plug the USB Cable into an available USB port.
- 3. Plug both Power Supply and USB cable into the Cradle.
- 4. Windows will prompt for a driver location.
- 5. Insert the supplied driver disc.
- 6. Select the drive letter associated with the driver disc.
- 7. The system will automatically assign a com port for the device.



Figure a. USB Cradle Driver Location with associated Com port (COM3)

- 1.4.3 Symbol Barcode Scanner Setup
  - 1. Plug the Power Supply into a wall outlet.
  - 2. Plug the Serial Cable into an available serial port.
  - 3. Plug both Power Supply and serial cable into the Cradle.
  - Install the Palm Desktop Software from one of the following locations: the Stock Manager CD, Palm Website, POS-X Website or POS-X Reseller Website.
  - 5. Setup Hot Sync to use the serial port connected to the cradle (figure b.).
  - 6. Synchronize the Symbol device to create a User ID.

Setup	×
General Local	Modem Network
Serial port:	СОМ1
Speed:	As Fast As Possible 💌
OK	Cancel Apply Help

#### Figure b. Palm HotSync Setup

#### 1.4.4 Barcode Printer Setup

Please refer to the barcode printer's setup instructions. The barcode printer must be plugged in with its drivers loaded before Stock Manager will work with it.

For assistance contact POS-X Help Desk at 1-800-790-8657.

### 1.5 Getting Started

Getting started is easy: Double click the desktop icon and start scanning.



Figure a. Stock Manager Desktop Icon

If the inventory items do not have barcodes enter them in by hand. Later in this manual we'll explain how to print barcode labels for these items.

### 1.6 Settings and Preferences

The Settings and Preferences screen provides the ability to modify application settings including:

- Barcode Printer
- Barcode Label Format
- Reports Printer
- Mobile Barcode Scanner
- Database Location (for networked multi-user applications)

Prefere	ences and Settings	;	
G	eneral Options	Scanner Settings	Barcode Settings
	Max History Reco	rd Size: 1000	
	Show Product	t Editor on Item Found Search	
	Inventory Database	Location:	Select
	Default Report Prin	ter:	
	Zebra TLP2844 PDF995 Microsoft Office Docu Adobe PDF \\NATALIE\Cognitive	ment Image Writer DelSol 2 inch	
		<u>OK</u>	
			ا فريد و و و و و و و و و

Figure a. General Options

### 1.6.1 General Options Tab

#### Max History Record Size:

This setting specifies the number of history records kept in the database.

#### Show Product Editor on Item Found:

Open the product editor screen when scanning items from the Inventory tab.

#### **Enable Filter Search:**

Filter the Inventory grid for items matching the search field.

#### Inventory Database Location:

Set the default Inventory dataset for multi-user applications. This function allows a large number of users to simultaneously access the same database for inventory control. Please consult our help desk for more information on setting up Stock Manager for a multi-user environment. Stock Manager will use the default inventory database in the installation folder if this field is left blank.

#### **Default Report Printer:**

From the list of available printers, select the printer that will be used for printing Inventory and Physical Inventory reports.

Pref	erences and Settings	j					
ſ	General Options	Scanner	Settings	Barcoc	le Settings	1	
	Mobile Scanner:	POS-XXt50		~			
	Comm Por	t Setting	Bau	l Rate —			
	© COM COM COM COM COM COM COM	1 2 3 4 5 5 6 7 8	⊙1 ○3 ○1	15200 8400 9200			
	<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> ancel						
-							

Figure b. Scanner Settings

### 1.6.2 Scanner Settings Tab

Use the Scanner Settings tab in Figure b. to integrate the mobile barcode scanner. Some scanners will display extended communications properties when selected.

#### Mobile Scanner:

From the Mobile Scanner list, select the model number for the supported barcode scanner to be used. Currently supported scanners include the POS-X Xt50, Symbol SPT 1550, Symbol SPT 1800, and Symbol SPT 1846.

#### **Comm Port Settings:**

For use with the Xt-50 barcode scanner. Select the correct communications port that the scanner's cradle is connected to. Refer to the hardware installation instructions (section 1.4) for further information.

Prefe	rences and Settings	;				
r	General Options	Scanner Settings	Barcode Settings			
	Default Barcode La Zebra - 2.2x.5 Inch Bu	bel : Itterfly Label - Price				
	Default Barcode Pri	inter:				
	Zebra TLP2844 PDF995 Microsoft Office Docu Adobe PDF \\NATALIE\Cognitive \\CAMILLE2\Brother I \\KATHY\OKI C5150	ment Image Writer DelSol 2 inch HL-1440 series n				
	Print Barcodes when Adding/Recieving Items					
<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel</u>						

Figure c. Barcode Settings

### 1.6.3 Barcode Settings Tab

Barcode Settings sets the bar-coding information for Stock Manager.

#### Default Barcode Label:

Select from the list of label templates available. If the desired label format isn't found in this list, the POS-X help desk can design a custom label format. Barcode label templates are created with Crystal Reports.

#### Default Barcode Printer:

From the list of available printers, select the printer to be used for barcode printing. The selected printer should correspond to the selected barcode label format.

### **Print Barcodes When Adding/Receiving Items**

Enabling this option will automatically print a barcode to the default printer when an item's quantity is increased (Add tab and during Mobile Scanner synchronization). Any new items received on a mobile scanner will automatically have a barcode printed to the default barcode printer.

## 2 Working with Inventory

Stock Manager manages inventory items from a main inventory screen. Use the tabs on this screen to access commonly performed inventory functions.

The main inventory screen is comprised of 7 tabbed function screens:

- Inventory
- Add
- Subtract
- Replace
- Compare
- New Item
- History

Click on the tab to perform the function it describes. The Add tab will add inventory item quantities whereas the Replace tab will replace inventory item quantities with the values scanned.

Each function that modifies inventory levels (Add, Subtract, Replace and New Item) includes a history grid to display recent scans.

### 2.1 Main Inventory Screen

The Inventory tab displays the entire list of inventory items in its grid. This screen provides a search function for finding items in the main inventory grid.



Figure a. Main Inventory Screen

Search By fields provide the option of searching on fields other than the barcode number.

Scanning an item not found in inventory will result in a prompt to add it.

The inventory grid has buttons for editing items and printing barcodes for specific items. Double clicking an item or clicking the item's Edit button will open the editor screen shown in Figure b.

### 2.1.1 Editing Items - General Tab

After scanning or clicking an item, the Item Editor screen will appear. This screen provides access to modify item information and print barcode labels.

Edit Record						
Edit Inventory Item						
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits			
Item Number: 1	23					
Description:	est Item 123					
Location:						
Qty:	1					
Vendor:						
Notes:						
	<u>o</u> k <u>D</u>	elete <u>C</u> an	cel			

Figure b. Edit Item Screen General Tab

The General Tab contains standard item information such as:

- Item Number
- Description
- Location
- Qty (quantity in stock)
- Vendor
- Notes

The OK button at the bottom of the screen saves all entries and exits to the main screen.

The editor screen has a Delete button that removes the item and all associated item reporting from the inventory grid.

To un-delete an item, simply scan or enter its item number. This will reenable the item with its item information intact.

### 2.1.2 Editing Items - Prices Tab

Edit Record			
Edit Inven	tory Item		
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
Cost is common standard item pr Item Pricir Current P	y referred to as wholesale ice. List Price is also refer g Cost: 2 rice: 0	price. Current Price is the ed to as MSRP.	
List P	rice: 0		
		Lelete <u>C</u> an	cel

Figure c. Prices Tab

The Prices tab shows the three pricing levels that can be set for items:

- Cost
- Current Price
- List Price

The Cost refers to the amount that was paid for an item. The Current Price is what the item sells for and the List price is the retail price (also known as Manufacturer Suggested Retail Price or MSRP).

### 2.1.3 Editing Items – Barcode Labels Tab

Figure d. shows the Barcode Labels tab. This tab performs barcode label printing for the item. The Label Quantity defaults to the Quantity entered on the General tab. Otherwise, simply enter the number of barcodes that need to be printed.

The Default Barcode Printer and Default Barcode Label settings on the Settings and Preferences screen must be set before barcodes can be printed.

Edit Inventory Item   General Prices   Barcode Labels Lim	
General Prices Barcode Labels Lin	
	nits
Barcode Printing Label Quantity: Print DK Delete Cancel	

Figure d. Barcode Labels Tab

For specific barcode label formatting or help printing barcodes please contact the POS-X help desk at 1-800-790-8657.

### 2.1.4 Editing Items – Limits Tab

Edit Record						
Edit Inven	tory Item					
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits			
Limits enable th inventory levels Limit Setti Ma Minimur	e Low Inventory Report an Ings Ix Oty:	d help maintain desired				
<u>OK</u> <u>Delete</u> <u>Cancel</u>						

Figure e. Limits Tab

Max Qty refers to the Maximum number of this item held in inventory. The Minimum Qty field sets the re-order point for an item. The Low Inventory report will show all items that have reached their Low Inventory thresholds and need reordering.

### 2.2 Add Screen

The Add tab adds/receives the quantity specified (in the Quantity field) for the scanned item, increasing the stock quantity. The History of Additions grid shows a historical list of scans.

Figure a. Add Screen

The Clear button will reset the Enter Item Number field. The Quantity field is a drop down number selector, but numbers may also be typed into this field.

To receive a large number of a certain item:

- 1. In the Quantity field, select or enter the number of items to add.
- 2. Scan the item.
- 3. The scan will appear in the History of Additions grid.

To Undo a scan:

- 1. Locate the scan to be deleted in the History of Additions grid.
- 2. Click the Undo button for that scan.
- 3. The quantity addition will be undone and the quantity increase reversed.

### 2.3 Subtract Screen

The Subtract tab subtracts/ships the quantity specified (in the Quantity field) for the scanned item, decreasing the stock quantity. The History of Subtractions grid shows a historical list of previous scans.

Enter story	ltem Nu	nber. Atractions	Quantity: Enter		Elear	
		Item Number	Description	Qty	Time Stamp	Vendor
7	undo	9876	TestItem 9876	1	3/30/2006 5:15:03 PM	Vendor Test 9876
	undo	54	TestItem 54	1	3/30/2006 5:15:02 PM	Vendor Test 54
	undo	56	TestItem 56	1	3/30/2006 5:15:01 PM	Vendor Test 56
	undo	32	Testitem 32	1	3/30/2006 5:15:00 PM	Vendor Test 32
	undo	32	TestItem 32	1	3/30/2006 5:14:59 PM	Vendor Test 32
	undo	123	12	1	3/30/2006 5:14:59 PM	Vendor Test 123
	undo	123	12	1	3/30/2006 5:14:58 PM	Vendor Test 123
	undo	123	12	1	3/30/2006 5:14:57 PM	Vendor Test 123
-	undo	123	12	1	3/30/2006 5:14:56 PM	Vendor Test 123

Figure a. Subtract Screen

The Clear button will reset the Enter Item Number field. The Quantity field is a drop down selector, but numbers may also be typed into this field.

To ship/subtract a large number of a certain item:

- 1. In the Quantity field, select or enter the number of items to subtract.
- 2. Scan the item.
- 3. The scan will appear in the History of Subtractions grid.

To Undo a scan:

- 1. Locate the scan to be deleted in the History of Subtractions grid.
- 2. Click the Undo button for that scan.
- 3. The quantity subtraction will be undone and the quantity decrease reversed.

### 2.4 Replace Screen

The Replace tab allows a quantity specified (in the Quantity field) to replace the existing inventory quantity for the scanned item. The History of Replaced grid shows a historical list of previous scans.

Enter	ltem Nu y of Rej	mber:	Quantity: 1 Enter		Clear		
		Item Number	Description	Qty	Time Stamp		Vendor
•	undo	65	TestItem 65	1	3/30/2006 5:16	15 PM Ven	dor Test 65
	undo	789	Testitem 789	4	3/30/2006 5:16	12 PM Ven	dor Test 789
	undo	65	Testitem 65	4	3/30/2006 5:16	11 PM Ven	dor Test 65
	undo	456	Testitem 456	1	3/30/2006 5:16	09 PM Ven	dor Test 456
	undo	545	Testitem 545	4	3/30/2006 5:16	08 PM Ven	dor Test 545
	undo	9999	Testitem 9999	4	3/30/2006 5:16	07 PM Ven	dor Test 9999
	undo	456	TestItem 456	4	3/30/2006 5:16	06 PM Ven	dor Test 456
	undo	123	12	39	3/30/2006 5:16	04 PM Ven	dor Test 123
			1				

Figure a. Replace Screen

The Clear button will reset the Enter Item Number field. The Quantity field is a drop down selector, but numbers may also be typed into this field.

To replace a large number for a certain item:

- 1. Select or enter the quantity.
- 2. Scan the item.
- 3. The scan will appear in the History of Replaced grid.

To Undo a scan:

- 1. Locate the scan to be deleted in the History of Replaced grid.
- 2. Click the Undo button for that scan.
- 3. The quantity replacement will be undone and the quantity replacement reversed.
- 4. Be careful! Clicking the Undo button is not reversible.

### 2.5 Compare Screen

The Compare tab is used to conduct a physical inventory comparison. This function provides reporting to compare the actual stock scanned during a physical inventory count against item quantities listed in the Stock Manager database.

Comparison scanning from mobile barcode scanners may also be "staged" in this area from multiple devices before the comparison reports are run.

The Total Cost and Total Price fields at the bottom simply act as an item calculator for tallying cost and price for quotes, orders or blocks of inventory. They are not used for comparison scanning and are simply for reference.

nparison	Session			cui		
1	Item Number	Description	Qly	Cost	Price	Location
Remov	/e 13	Testitem 13	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov	/e 132	TestItem 132	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov	/e 444	TestItem 444	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov	/e 654	TestItem 654	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov	/e 6888	Testitem 6888	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov	/e 789	Testitem 789	1	\$4.00	\$2.32	Location Test
Remov Remov	/e 654 /e 6888 /e 789	Testitem 654 Testitem 6888 Testitem 789	1	\$4.00 \$4.00 \$4.00	\$2.32 \$2.32 \$2.32	Location Test Location Test Location Test

Figure a. Compare Screen

The Comparison Session must have scanned items listed in the Comparison Session grid to enable the comparison reports.

After running comparison reports for physical inventory counts, click the Start a New Session button to clear comparison scanning. Be aware that starting a new session will delete all comparison scans.

The Remove button will remove a scan from the Comparison Session grid. This function is useful when an item is scanned more than once.

### 2.6 New Item Screen

The New Item tab is used to add new items (not currently in the database) to Stock Manager. New items can also be added from any function tab by simply scanning an item.

Ĩ	nvent	tory	Add	Subtract	Replace	(	Compare	New It	em	History	
	Add Enter	New   Item Nur y of Hev	Items nber: ( v ttems Entered	Quantity: 1	Enter		Clear				
			Item Number	Descripti	on	Qty	Time Sta	amp		Vendor	
	►	undo	123	12		43	3/30/2006	2:18:16 PM	Vendor	Test 123	
		undo	123	12		43	3/30/2006	2:18:01 PM	vendor	Test 123	

Figure a. New Item Screen

Scanning a new item will open the Add Item screen shown in Figure b. The Add Item screen displays four tabs, each containing a list of item information.

To reverse the addition of a new item, click the item's Undo button in the History of New Items Entered grid. This will delete the item and remove it from the inventory.

### 2.6.1 Adding New Items – General Tab

Add Record			
Add Inve	ntory Item		
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
Item Number: 3	21		
Description:			
Location:			
Qty:	1		
Vendor:			
Notes:			
		) alata	

Figure b. Add Item Screen General Tab

The General Tab contains standard item information such as:

- Item Number
- Description
- Location
- Qty (quantity)
- Vendor
- Notes

The OK button at the bottom of the screen saves all entries and exits to the main screen.

### 2.6.2 Adding New Items – Prices Tab

Add Record			-
Add Inven	tory Item		
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
Cost is common standard item pr Item Pricin Current P List P	y referred to as wholesale cc. List Price is also refer g Cost: rice:	price. Current Price is the red to as MSRP.	
		Delete <u>C</u> an	cel

Figure c. Prices Tab

There are three pricing levels in Stock Manager:

- Cost
- Current Price
- List Price

Cost refers to the amount that was paid for an item. Current price is what the item sells for and the List Price is the retail price (also known as Manufacturer Suggested Retail Price or MSRP).

### 2.6.3 Adding New Items – Barcode Labels Tab

Figure d. shows the Barcode Labels tab. This tab performs barcode label printing for the item. The Label Quantity defaults to the Quantity entered on the General tab. Otherwise, simply enter the number of barcodes that need to be printed.

The Default Barcode Printer and Default Barcode Label settings on the Settings and Preferences screen must be set before barcodes can be printed.

Add Record				
Add II	nver	tory Item		
Gene	eral	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
	-Barcoda Label	e Printing Quantity: 1	Print Delete Can	sel

Figure d. Barcode Labels Tab

For specific barcode label formatting or help printing barcodes, please contact the POS-X help desk at 1-800-790-8657.

### 2.6.4 Adding New Items – Limits Tab

Add Record			
Add Inv	entory Item		
General	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
Limits ee inventou M	vable the Low Inventory Report an y levels. I Settings Max Oty:	id help maintain desired	
		<u>)</u> elete <u>C</u> an	cel

Figure e. Limits Tab

Max Qty refers to the Maximum number of this item held in inventory. The Minimum Qty field sets the re-order point for an item. The Low Inventory report will show all items that have reached their Low Inventory thresholds and need reordering.

### 2.7 History Screen

The History tab will show a list of previous quantity changes, product additions and product deletions. This list is ordered by a Time Stamp showing when the action occurred. This list is limited to the Max History Record Size setting found in the Preferences and Setting screen.

Find Item		Find Clear		Search By Item Number	O Vendor	🔿 Descrip	tion
	Item Number	Description	Qty	Method	Time St	amp	^
▶ undo	65	Testitem 65	1	Replaced Item	3/30/200	55:16:15 PM	
undo	789	Testitem 789	4	Replaced Item	3/30/200	6 5:16:12 PM \	
undo	65	Testitem 65	4	Replaced Item	3/30/200	55:16:11 PM \	
undo	456	Testitem 456	1	Replaced Item	3/30/200	6 5:16:09 PM \	
undo	545	Testitem 545	4	Replaced Item	3/30/200	5:16:08 PM \	
undo	9999	Testitem 9999	4	Replaced Item	3/30/200	5 5:16:07 PM 3	
undo	456	Testitem 456	4	Replaced Item	3/30/200	5 5:16:06 PM \	
undo	123	12	39	Replaced Item	3/30/200	5:16:04 PM \	
	9876	Testitem 9876	1	Subtracted Item	3/30/200	5:15:03 PM \	
undo			1	Subtracted Item	3/30/200	5:15:02 PM \	
undo	54	Lestitem 54					

Figure a. History Screen

The History Screen is searchable by Item Number, Vendor, or Description. The History Grid can be ordered by any field by clicking on the column header for that field.

The Undo button will reverse the action shown in the Method column.

## 3 Barcode Labels



Figure a. Common Barcode Printers

Stock Manager prints barcode labels using common barcode and laser printers. There are a number of predefined label formats to choose from including sheets of Avery-style mailing labels. Label templates are created in Crystal Reports and can be modified.

Before printing barcodes, ensure that a barcode printer is connected and its drivers installed. Also ensure that a Default Label Format and a Default Label Printer have been selected in the Preferences and Settings section.

### 3.1 Printing All Item Labels

To print a barcode label for each item in the inventory, click on the Print Barcodes button.



Figure a. Printing Labels for All Items

This function will use the current inventory quantities. If there are 54 widgets with Item Number 123, Stock Manager will print 54 labels for this item.

There are three methods for printing barcodes for specific items. These methods are listed below.

### 3.2 Individual Item Barcode Printing

There are three methods for printing barcodes for individual items:

- From the Item Edit or Add Item screen's Barcode Labels tab.
- From the Main Screen Inventory tab's Barcodes column.
- When synchronizing inventory values with a mobile device.

Edit Record				
Edit Ir	nven	tory Item		
			بكالمست مستعد	
Gene	ral	Prices	Barcode Labels	Limits
ſ	Barcode	Printing		1
	Label	Quantity: 💈	Print	
	_			
		<u>o</u> k <u>D</u>	elete <u>C</u> ano	el
1				

Figure a. Printing Labels for Individual Items

Figure a. shows the Edit Inventory Item screen's Barcode Labels tab. This screen will print the designated label quantity for the item being edited.

On the Main Inventory screen, clicking the Print button for any inventory item will generate the prompt shown in Figure b. Enter the number of labels to print and click OK to print them to the default barcode printer.



Figure b. Printing Labels for Individual Items

# 4 Inventory Reporting

Stock Manager includes 5 basic inventory reports:

- Full Inventory Report
- Low Inventory Report
- Three Physical Comparison Reports

Inventory Reports	
Show Comparison Report	
Preview	
Full Inventory Report	
Preview	
Low Inventory Report	
Preview	

Figure a. Selecting an Inventory Report

Comparison reports are available once comparison scans are entered into the Compare Grid from either the Keyboard Wedge scanner or from a Wireless Barcode Scanner.

All reports can be printed to the Default Report Printer. Make sure the Default Report Printer in the Preferences and Settings Screen has been selected before printing a report.

### 4.1 Full Inventory Reporting

The Full Inventory Report shows all information for every item. This report also lists the Total Inventory Value at the bottom of the report.

	Full Inventory Report						
Item Number	Description	Qty	Min	Max	Cost Per	Price Per	List Price
t Location: Location	Testillern 1 * Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10 Location: Socation	Teattern 10 Vendos 2endor Pas	5.00 Netes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	\$5.00
100 Location: Location	Testitem 100 Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
1000 Location: Location	Testitern 1000 Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10000 Location: Location	Teattern 50000 Vendor Vendor Tea	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10001 Location: Location	Testitem 10001 • Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10004 Location: Location	Testittern 10004 Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10005 Location: Location	Testitem 10005 Vendor Vendor Tes	4.00 Notes:			\$4.00	\$2.32	
10007	Teittlem 10007	4.00			\$4.00	\$2.32	

Figure a. Full Inventory Report

### 4.2 Low Inventory Reporting

The Low Inventory Report lists items whose Low Inventory threshold has been reached. This report is helpful for reordering and increasing inventory turns.

	Low Inventory Report				
Nem Number	Description	Vendor	oty	Min	Difference
100 10000 10004	Testitern 100 Testitern 10000 Testitern 10004	Vendor Test 100 Vendor Test 10000 Vendor Test 10004	4.00 4.00 4.00	6.00 6.00 6.00	(2.00) (2.00) (2.00)

Figure a. Low Inventory Report

### 4.3 Physical Inventory Reporting

There are three Comparison reports. These reports are used when conducting a Physical Inventory to determine the accuracy of inventory values listed in the database as compared to the actual physical inventory values.

A typical Comparison session involves one or more mobile barcode scanners scanning and recording current quantities for every item in the inventory.

Comparison Report Opt	tions
Show Com	parison
Preview	Print
Items Scanned bu	it Not In Inventory
Preview	Print
Items In Inventory I	but Not Scanned
Preview	Print
E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	

Figure a. Selecting a Comparison Report

### 4.3.1 Items Scanned Compared to Stock Manager Levels

The Comparison report shows the difference between the quantities scanned and the values held in the inventory database.

Item Number	Description	Vendor Code	Inv Qty	Scanned Oty	Difference
13	Testitem 13	Vendor Test 13	4.00	1.00	3.00
132	Testitem 132	Vendor Test 132	4.00	1.00	3.00
654	Testitem 654	Vendor Test 654	4.00	1.00	3.00
444	Testitem 444	Vendor Test 444	4.00	1.00	3.00
6888	Testitem 6888	Vendor Test 6888	4.00	1.00	3.00
789	Testilam 789	Vendor Test 789	1.00	1.00	0.00

Figure a. Inventory Comparison Report

#### 4.3.2 Items Scanned but Not in Stock Manager

The Items Scanned but Not In Inventory Report shows the items present in the physical inventory but missing from the Stock Manager database.

-	10		
Nem Number Descr	iption Vendo	r Code Quan	tity
54654 dsf astdg3343		1	00 00 00
è			

### Figure a. Items Not Found Report
### 4.3.3 Items in Stock Manager but Not Scanned

This report shows all the items existing in the Stock Manager database but not scanned during the Physical Inventory process.

Hem Number	Items In Inventory but Not Scanned		d
	Description	Vendor Code	Ouantity
1	Teatitem 1	Vendor Test 1	4.00
2	Testitem 2	Vendor Test 2	4.00
3	Testitem 3	Vendor Test 3	4.00
4	Testitem 4	Vendor Test 4	4.00
5	Testitem 5	Vendor Test 5	4.00
6	Testitem 6	Vendor Test 6	4.00
7	Testitem 7	Vendor Test 7	4.00
B	Testitem 8	Vendor Test 8	4.00
	Testitem 9	Vendor Test 9	4.00
10	Testitem 10	Zendor Test 10	5.00
11	Testitem 11	Vendor Test 11	4.00
12	Testitem 12	Vendor Test 12	4.00
14	Testitem 14	Vendor Test 14	4.00
15	Testitem 15	Vendor Test 15	4.00
16	Testitem 16	Vendor Test 16	4.00
17	Testitem 17	Vendor Test 17	4.00
18	Testitem 18	Vendor Test 18	4.00
19	Testitem 19	Vendor Test 19	4.00
20	Testitem 20	Vendor Test 20	4.00
21	Testitem 21	Vendor Test 21	4.00
22	Testitem 22	Vendor Test 22	4.00
23	Testitem 23	Vendor Test 23	4.00
24	Testitem 24	Vendor Test 24	4.00

Figure a. Items Not Scanned Report

# 5 Backing up Data

Frequent Inventory Database backups are recommended when using Stock Manager. The Backup Inventory screen simply saves a copy of the Inventory database to a different location.

Backup Inventory	
Select a backup location:	( the second sec
	Select

Figure a. Selecting a Backup Location

Please call the POS-X help desk at 1-800-790-8657 to restore the database from a backup.

# 6 Exporting Data

Exporting the contents of the Stock Manager database to an external application is simple. The Export CSV File screen will export the entire Stock Manager database as a comma separated file (CSV) to the location specified when clicking the Select button.

Export Complete Database		
Export CSV File		
Select an export location:	Select	
<u><u> </u></u>	<u>C</u> ancel	

Figure a. Selecting an Export Location

There is also the option to export a file containing a specific Item Number and Quantity only. This can be handy for updating inventory quantities in other applications.

# 7 Using the POS-X Xt50 Barcode Scanner

POS-X Stock Manager comes preloaded as the default application on the scanner. To turn on the scanner, hold down the power button for one second. Stock Manager will then initialize.

### 7.1 Scanner Functions

Mobile Inventory has the following scanner functions:

- 1. Add To Inventory
- 2. Subtract/Remove From Inventory
- 3. Compare Inventory
- 4. Replace Inventory
- 5. Lookup Item Information
- 6. Synchronize the Device
- 7. File Clearing Utility
- 8. Device Memory Status
- 9. Scanner Settings

To access a function, press the corresponding number on the keypad.



Figure a. Scanner Main Menu

- The Blue button functions as the Enter key for most scanner functions.
- The Up and Down arrows are used on the scanner's main screen to scroll through the menu.
- The Up and Down arrows are used in scanning screens to scroll through the records of scanned data.

The Battery Level Indicator in the lower right hand side of the screen shows the current charge of the battery.

# 7.2 Advanced Scanner Settings

The Xt50 Barcode Scanner has an Advanced Settings screen that controls functions like

- Loading New Versions of the scanner application.
- Changing the scanner "beep" settings.
- Initializing the scanner memory.
- Running diagnostic tests.

### To Enter the Advanced Setting mode:

- 1. Ensure the scanner is powered off.
- 2. Hold the 7 and 9 buttons down while powering the scanner on.
- 3. The 7 and 9 buttons must be pressed and held while the power button is activated to enter the advanced screen.

For more information on the Xt50 Advanced settings please contact the POS-X help desk at 1-800-790-8657.

# 7.3 Add To Inventory

The Add to Inventory function is used to increase the stock quantities of inventory items by scanning their barcodes or manually entering an item number. If the item isn't found in the scanner database, a prompt will ask if it should be added to the database.



Figure a. Add To Inventory

### To add a single quantity to an existing item:

- 1. Scan each item (scanner will beep).
- 2. The stock quantity will be increased by one for each item scanned.

### To add a large quantity to an existing item:

- 1. Scan the item for which the quantity will be added.
- 2. The scanner will beep and advance to the next record.
- 3. Press the Up Arrow key to return to the previous record.
- 4. Press the Blue key.
- 5. Enter in the quantity to be added.
- 6. Press the Blue key again.

### To manually key in an item without a barcode:

- 1. Key in the number with the keypad. (Refer to Appendix A for instructions on using the Alpha keypad).
- 2. Press the Blue button.
- 3. Enter the quantity to be added.
- 4. Press the Blue button.
- 5. The scanner will beep confirming a quantity increase for the designated item.

If an item scanned isn't in the scanner's inventory list, a prompt will appear asking the user whether to add the item to the Master DB (aka Item List). This action adds the item but does not set any of its properties such as description, cost, price, etc.



Figure b. Add New Items

After adding an item to the Item List, use function 5 – Lookup Inventory – from the Main Menu to modify the item's properties.

# 7.4 Remove From Inventory

Use the Remove from Inventory function to remove items from inventory. This function won't remove the item completely; it simply subtracts the item's quantity in the inventory database. The default quantity is one. If the item isn't found in the scanner's item list, a prompt will ask whether it should be added to the inventory list.



Figure a. Subtract From Inventory

This function works just like the Add to Inventory function in section 7.3.

### To subtract a single unit from inventory:

- 1. Scan each barcode for items you wish to deduct from inventory (scanner will beep).
- 2. The stock quantity will be decreased by one for each item scanned.

### To subtract a large quantity from an existing item:

- 1. Scan the item for which the quantity will be subtracted.
- 2. The scanner will beep and advance to the next record.
- 3. Press the Up Arrow key to return to the previous record.
- 4. Press the Blue key.
- 5. Enter in the quantity to be subtracted.
- 6. Press the Blue key again.

### To manually key in an item without a barcode:

- 1. Key in the number with the keypad. (Refer to Appendix A for instructions on using the Alpha keypad).
- 2. Press the Blue button.
- 3. Enter the quantity to be subtracted.
- 4. Press the Blue button.

# 7.5 Compare Inventory Quantities

Use this function to scan physical inventory and compare the scanned information to the item quantity levels in the Stock Manager inventory database.



Figure a. Compare Inventory Quantities

This function works like Add To Inventory and Remove Inventory. Please refer to section 7.3 for scanning instructions.

Scan each item or scan one and then change that item's quantity. After synchronizing, the scanned data is sent to the desktop for comparison.

# 7.6 Replace Inventory Quantities



Figure a. Replace Inventory Quantities

This function is similar to the Add To Inventory and Remove Inventory functions. Please refer to section 7.3 for scanning instructions.

After synchronizing, the inventory values in Stock Manager will be replaced by the quantities assigned to each item using the Replace Inventory function.

# 7.7 Lookup Inventory

This function allows the user to perform lookup and editing tasks for inventory information with the mobile barcode scanner. Lookup times should be less than one second, even with thousands of items.



Figure a. Lookup Items

Edit description, price, cost, list price, quantity, location and vendor for each item in the Item List. Changes and additions are sent back to Stock Manager.

### To change the value of an item:

- 1. Scan the item.
- 2. Use the Up and Down arrows to scroll to the field to be changed.
- 3. Enter the item information using the keypad.
- 4. Press the Blue button to save your changes.

Be sure to press the Blue button prior to exiting. Changes are not saved unless a Blue button is pressed. Make sure to turn off the Alpha Keyboard function before exiting.

Refer to Appendix A for instructions on using the Alpha keypad.

# 7.8 Synchronize

The Synchronize function is used to send scanned data to the Stock Manager database. This function will also transfer inventory levels and item information to the device.



Figure a. Synchronize the Device

### To synchronize the device:

- 1. Make sure the cradle has power and is connected to the computer's USB port.
- 2. Place the scanner in the cradle.
- 3. From the Main Menu, Press 6.
- 4. Press the Blue button.
- 5. Click the Synchronize option on the Stock Manager desktop application.
- 6. Click Ok when prompted.

If synchronization doesn't occur immediately, click the Abort button on the desktop and perform steps 5 and 6 again.

# 7.9 Utility

The Utility function allows the user to delete the scanned data from one or all of the data tables on the barcode scanner.



Figure a. Clear Data Utility

Caution: The Clear Data functions are not reversible. These functions will erase all collected information.

When finished, press the ESC button to exit to the Main Menu.

### 7.10 Status

The Status screen displays the amount of memory each function is using and the amount of memory left on the device.

= Statistics = Add Inv 1 Sub Inv 0 Cmp Inv 902 Rep Inv 0 AddNwInv 4 Look Inv 902 Free Mem 190976			
	= Stati Add Inv Sub Inv Cmp Inv Rep Inv AddNwInv Look Inv Free Mem	stics = 1 0 902 0 4 902 190976	

Figure a. Memory Status

Typically, a 2MB scanner will scan over 15,000 items before running out of memory..

When finished, press the ESC button to exit to the Main Menu.

POS-X.com 1-800-790-8657

# 7.11 Scanner Advanced Settings

The Scanner Table configures the Xt50 barcode scanner for specific scanner settings. Support for ISBN barcodes can be turned on or off. Lead digits can be enabled or disabled. The scanner can even be restricted to only scan a certain barcode type.



Figure a. Scanner Table

Please call your vendor or the POS-X tech support department for assistance when configuring Advanced scanner settings.

When finished, press the ESC button to exit to the Main Menu and save any changes.

# 8 Using the Symbol Palm Barcode Scanner



Figure a. Symbol SPT 1550 Barcode Scanner

Stock Manager for the Symbol SPT series scanners offers a versatile inventory management application for a standard Symbol Palm barcode scanner.

### 8.1 Sending Inventory Data to the Scanner

#### To load inventory items onto the device:

- 1. Place Scanner in synch cradle.
- 2. Start the Stock Manager program on the PC.
- 3. Ensure that the Symbol device is set as the default scanner in the preference menu.
- 4. Click Synchronize in the menu bar of Stock Manager Desktop.
- 5. Press the synchronize button on the cradle.



Figure a. Device Synchronization

### 8.2 Scanner Functions

The Palm version has the following basic scanner functions:

- 1. Add To Inventory
- 2. Subtract/Remove From Inventory
- 3. Compare Inventory
- 4. Replace Inventory
- 5. Lookup Item Information
- 6. Edit Item Information
- 7. File Clearing Utility

The Palm version also features more advanced user input screens and increased memory.

#### Main Menu:

To access a function, tap on the corresponding icon on the touch screen.



Figure a. Scanner Main Menu

# 8.3 Add To Inventory

The Add Inventory function offers the ability to increase stock quantities by scanning their barcodes or manually entering a number.

Hdd La Inventor	
Barcode:	Enter)
Quantity: 1	Other the order
234600	1.00
Reta	
0	•
<b>()</b> 35	0

Figure a. Add To Inventory

### To increase inventory quantities by a single unit:

- 1. Scan each item (scanner will beep).
- 2. The stock quantity is increased by one for each item scanned.
- 3. The scan is entered into the list.

### To increase an item by a number larger than one:

- 1. Enter the total quantity in the Quantity field.
- 2. Scan the item.
- 3. The scanner will beep confirming a quantity increase for the designated item.
- 4. The scan is entered into the list.

### To manually key in an item without a barcode:

1. Tap the Barcode field.

- 2. Tap the numbers or letters that make up the barcode number.
- 3. Tap on the Done button.
- 4. Tap the Enter button.



Figure b. Adding a New Item to Inventory

If an item's barcode isn't found in the current database, the scanner will prompt to add it. If the item isn't added to the product database, the quantity increase will be ignored.

# 8.4 Subtract From Inventory

Use the Subtract from Inventory function to remove items from inventory. This function will not remove the whole item; it simply deducts an item's quantity from your inventory records.



Figure a. Subtract From Inventory

### To decrease inventory quantities by a single unit:

- 1. Scan each item (scanner will beep).
- 2. The stock quantity is decreased by one for each item scanned.
- 3. The scan is entered into the list.

### To decrease an item by a number larger than one:

- 1. Enter the quantity in the Quantity field.
- 2. Scan the item's barcode.
- 3. The scanner will beep confirming a quantity decrease for the scanned item.
- 4. The scan is entered into the list.

#### To manually key in an item without a barcode:

- 1. Tap the Barcode field.
- 2. Tap the numbers or letters that make up the barcode number.
- 3. Tap on the Done button.
- 4. Tap the Enter button.

# 8.5 Compare Inventory Quantities

Use this function to scan physical inventory and then compare the scanned information to item quantity levels in the Store Manager inventory database.



Figure a. Compare Inventory Quantities

This function works like the Add To Inventory and Subtract from Inventory functions. Please refer to section 8.4 for scanning instructions.

Scan each item or scan one and then change that item's quantity. After synchronizing, the scanned data is sent to the desktop for comparison. Refer to section 4.3 for Comparison Report options.

### 8.6 Replace Inventory Quantities

Replace Inve	ntory
Barcode:	(Eater)
Quantity: 1	
Barcode	Qty to replace:
E E	leturn
0	100

Figure a. Replace Inventory Quantities

This function is similar to the Add To Inventory and Subtract from Inventory functions. Please refer to section 8.4 for scanning instructions.

After synchronizing, the inventory values in Store Manager will be replaced by the quantities from the Replace Inventory function.

### 8.7 Add New Inventory Item

The Add New Inventory function will add new items (items not currently existing) in the Stock Manager database.

	1
Add New Inventory	
Barcode: 1234600 (Search)	
Desc:	
Qty: 1	
Cost:	
Price:	
MSRP:	
Location:	
Vendor:	
Return Save	

Figure a. Add New Inventory Items

#### To add a new item:

- 1. Press the New Item button on the Scanner's main screen.
- 2. Scan or key in the barcode number. The scanner will check to see if it's already in the system.
- 3. Key in information using the keypad
- 4. Press Save to add the new item.

#### To exit without saving:

1. Press the Return button.

The palm soft Keypad provides an easy method for entering and editing product information. Access the soft keypad by tapping inside each field. Numeric fields will show the number keypad and text fields will show the text keypad.



Figure b. Palm Soft Numeric and Text Keypads

# 8.8 Lookup Products

This function performs a lookup on item information with your Stock Manager barcode scanner. Lookup times should be less than one second, even with thousands of items.



Figure a. Lookup Inventory Items

### Lookup Quantity and Location:

- 1. Scan or enter the item's barcode.
- 2. If found, the item will be highlighted in the Item List.

### Lookup All Item Information:

- 1. Ensure the Show On Find box is checked (see example in Figure a.).
- 2. Scan or enter the item's barcode.



Figure b. Show Scanned Item Information

# 8.9 Edit Inventory Information

Scan an item to edit any of the following fields: Description, Quantity, Cost, Price, MSRP or List Price, Location and Vendor. Changes are automatically sent from the Barcode Scanner to Stock Manager during the synchronization process.



Figure a. Lookup Inventory Quantities

The second s	
EditItems	12
Barcode:1234573	
Desc: 123456666	
Qty: 2	
Cost: 0	
Price: 50.25	
MSRP: 0	
Location:	
Vendor:	122
Return Save	

Figure b. Lookup Inventory Quantities

### 8.10 Synchronize the Palm Scanner

The Synchronize function is used to send scanned data to the Stock Manager database. This function will also transfer the inventory levels and item information to the device.



Figure a. Synchronize the Device

### To synchronize the device:

- 1. Make sure the cradle has power and is connected to the computer's USB or serial port.
- 2. Place the scanner in the cradle.
- 3. Press the Synchronize button.
- 4. Press the Synchronize button on the Stock Manager desktop application.

### 8.11 Data Utility

The Utility function allows deletion of scanned data from one or all of the data tables on the barcode scanner.



Figure a. Main Menu Drop Down



Figure b. Clear Data Utility

**Caution:** The Clear Data functions are not reversible. These functions will erase all collected information.

### 8.12 Palm Device Status

The Status screen displays the number of records each function is using.

Typically, an 8MB scanner will scan well over 20,000 items before running out of memory..



Figure a. Clear Data Utility

# 8.13 Calculator Function

The Item Calculator tallies both the Total Price and Total Cost for items scanned from this screen. Items must be entered into the product database and must have either a Price or a Cost respectively to add the item to the running total.

The Item Calculator does not add sales tax or perform any point-of-sale functions.

Item Calculator	
Barcode: Enter	No.
Barcode: Qty: Price	
<b>Total Price</b>	123
Clear All) (Return) (Total Cost)	

Figure a. Item Calculator

# Appendix and Supplemental Information

### Appendix A: The Xt50 Alpha Keyboard

The Alpha Keyboard feature on the Xt50 barcode scanner allows the user to key in letters using the numeric keypad. The Alpha Keyboard works much like a standard cell phone's texting function.

To enter an Upper case letter using the keypad:

- 1. Press the "ALPHA" key.
  - a. An "<u>A</u>" will appear above the battery indicator.
- 2. Press the key that has the desired letter.
  - a. Example1: for the letter "A" press the 2 key once.
  - b. Example2: for the letter "B" press the 2 key twice.

To enter a Lower case letter:

- 1. Press the "ALPHA" key twice
  - a. A small "<u>a</u>" will appear above the battery indicator.
- 2. Press the key that has the desired letter.
  - a. Example1: for the letter "a" press the 2 key once.
  - b. Example2: for the letter "b" press the 2 key twice.

Pressing the "ALPHA" key three times will bring up the function characters. This mode is indicated by a "<u>F</u>" above the battery indicator. The function characters set is an extension that is rarely used.

To return to numeric input, press the "ALPHA" key until the letter function indicator ("<u>A</u>", "<u>a</u>" or "<u>F</u>") disappears.

### **Appendix B: Device Registration**

The Xt-50 barcode scanner has a simple registration screen. Scanners are generally registered at the manufacturer's warehouse.



Figure B.1 Xt50 Registration Screen

An activation code is required when installing a new inventory application on Symbol Palm barcode scanners. This code is based off of the device ID. Activation codes are available from your vendor.



Figure B.2. SPT 1550 Unregistered Copy

Enter the activation code received from your vendor:



Figure B.3. SPT 1550 Registration Screen
## Appendix C: Installing Palm Files

Palm files are installed to the device via the Palm HotSync Manager. The HotSync Manager is part of the Palm Desktop. The Palm Desktop software must be installed and configured prior to installing the device software. The latest Palm Desktop software can be found at www.palm.com.

The HotSync manager will appear in the system tray when installed properly.



Figure C.1. HotSync Icon in System Tray

Right click on the HotSync Manager Icon to configure the HotSync Manager. The HotSync Manager must be correctly set up and synchronizing with your device to install program files.

## To Install Palm Program Files:

- 1. Browse to the C:\WinPOS40\Palm Support Files\ directory.
- 2. Double click the Install\_Palm\_Files.exe application.
- 3. If the prompt in Figure C.2 is displayed, follow the first time installation directions below.
- 4. Wait a few moments for the HotSync Manager to restart.
- 5. Press the hot synch button on the cradle.

	Exit HotSync Manager
	Exiting HotSync Manager will disable this feature. You can start the HotSync Manager again from the Palm Desktop program group on the Start menu.
	Are you sure you want to exit HotSync Manager?
	✓ Don't ask this question again
Check this box	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o



## First Time Installation:

- 1. Check the box on the prompt shown in Figure C.2.
- 2. Click Yes.
- 3. Click Cancel on the prompt in Figure C.3.
- 4. Restart the installation process

🔩 Inventory Installer	×
Ready to copy to Palm handheld.	<u> </u>
**Warning: You must already have a "Use for the target handheld.**	er Name''
Press the "Install" button to continue or pr "Cancel" to abort.	ess 💌
User Name:	
mgm1	•
Install C	ancel

Figure C.3. Select Palm User Name

Waiting	for HotSync	×
8 <u>–</u>	Ready to transfer files to Handheld.	
₩Ļ	Press the HotSync button on the Handheld cradle to continue.	
	Press "Cancel" to abort.	
	Cancel	

Figure C.4. HotSync Status